

Project 1371 - none

**DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH
CH381 HCO amendments**

Part I
Definitions and General Information

12VAC5-381-10. Definitions.

The following words and terms when used in this chapter shall have the following meanings unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

"Activities of daily living (ADLs)" means bathing, dressing, toileting, transferring, bowel control, bladder control and eating/feeding. A person's degree of independence in performing these activities is part of determining the appropriate level of care and services. A need for assistance exists when the client is unable to complete an activity due to cognitive impairment, functional disability, physical health problems, or safety. The client's functional level is based on the client's need for assistance most or all of the time to perform personal care tasks in order to live independently.

"Administer" means the direct application of a controlled substance, whether by injection, inhalation, ingestion or any other means, to the body of a client by (i) a practitioner or by his authorized agent and under his direction or (ii) the client at the direction and in the presence of the practitioner as defined in § 54.1-3401 of the Code of Virginia.

"Administrator" means a person designated in writing by the governing body as having the necessary authority for the day-to-day management of the organization. The administrator must be an employee of the organization. The administrator, the director of nursing skilled services, or other clinical director may be the same individual if that individual is dually qualified.

"Adverse outcome" means the result of drug or health care therapy that is neither intended nor expected in normal therapeutic use and that causes significant, sometimes life-threatening conditions or consequence at some future time. Such potential future adverse outcome may requires the arrangement for appropriate follow-up surveillance and perhaps other departures from the usual plan of care.

"ALF" means assisted living facility.

"Available at all times during operating hours" means ~~an individual~~ the administrator is readily available on the premises or by telecommunications.

"Barrier crimes" means certain offenses, specified in § 32.1-162.9:1 of the Code of Virginia, that automatically bar an individual convicted of those offenses from employment with a home care organization.

"Chore services" means assistance with nonroutine, heavy home maintenance for persons unable to perform such tasks. Chore services include minor repair work on

September 2009

furniture and appliances; carrying coal, wood and water; chopping wood; removing snow; yard maintenance; and painting.

"Client record" means the centralized location for documenting information about the client and the care and services provided to the client by the organization. A client record is a continuous and accurate account of care or services, whether hard copy or electronic, provided to a client, including information that has been dated and signed by the individuals who prescribed or delivered the care or service.

"Client representative" means the client's family, next of kin, caretaker or sponsoring agency or agencies.

"Client's residence" means the place where the individual or client makes his home such as his own apartment or house, a relative's home or an assisted living facility, but does not include a hospital, nursing facility or other extended care facility.

"Commissioner" means the State Health Commissioner.

"Companion services" means assisting persons unable to care for themselves without assistance. Companion services include transportation, meal preparation, shopping, light housekeeping, companionship, and household management.

"Contract services" means services provided through agreement with another agency, organization, or individual on behalf of the organization. The agreement specifies the services or personnel to be provided on behalf of the organization and the fees to provide these services or personnel.

"Criminal record report" means the statement issued by the Central Criminal Record Exchange, Virginia Department of State Police.

"Department" means the Virginia Department of Health.

"Discharge planning" means the active process of evaluating the client's capacity for self care and the availability of community services to meet the needs of the client. Discharge planning should begin as soon as the client is admitted to the organization for services.

"Discharge or termination summary" means a final written summary filed in a closed client record of the service delivered, goals achieved and final disposition at the time of client's discharge or termination from service.

"Dispense" means to deliver a drug to an ultimate user by or pursuant to the lawful order of a practitioner, including the prescribing and administering, packaging, labeling or compounding necessary to prepare the substance for that delivery.

"Drop site" means a location that HCO staff use in the performance of daily tasks such as obtaining supplies, using fax and copy machines, charting notes on care or services provided, and storing client records. These locations may also be called charting stations, workstations, or convenience sites.

"Employee" means an individual who has the status of an employee as defined by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service.

"Functional limitations" means the level of a client's need for assistance based on an assessment conducted by the supervising nurse. There are three criteria to assessing functional status: (i) the client's impairment level and need for personal assistance, (ii)

September 2009

the client's lack of capacity, and (iii) how the client usually performed the activity over a period of time. If a person is mentally and physically free of impairment, there is not a safety risk to the individual, or the person chooses not to complete an activity due to personal preference or choice, then that person does not need assistance.

"Governing body" means the individual, group or governmental agency that has legal responsibility and authority over the operation of the home care organization.

"Home attendant" means a nonlicensed individual performing skilled, pharmaceutical and personal care services, under the supervision of the appropriate health professional, to a client in the client's residence. Home attendants are also known as certified nurse aides or CNAs, home care aides, home health aides, or personal care aides.

"Home care organization" or "HCO" means a public or private entity providing an organized program of home health, pharmaceutical or personal care services, according to § 32.1-162.1 of the Code of Virginia in the residence of a client or individual to maintain the client's health and safety in his home. A home care organization does not include any family members, relatives or friends providing caregiving services to persons who need assistance to remain independent and in their own homes.

"Home health agency" means a public or private agency or organization, or part of an agency or organization, that meets the requirements for participation in Medicare under 42 CFR 440.70 (d), by providing skilled nursing services and at least one other therapeutic service, e.g., physical, speech or occupational therapy; medical social services; or home health aide services, and also meets the capitalization requirements under 42 CFR 489.28.

"Homemaker services" means assistance to persons with the inability to perform one or more instrumental activities of daily living. Homemaker services may also include assistance with bathing areas the client cannot reach, fastening client's clothing, combing hair, brushing dentures, shaving with an electric razor, and providing stabilization to a client while walking. Homemaker services do not include feeding, bed baths, transferring, lifting, putting on braces or other supports, cutting nails or shaving with a blade.

"Infusion therapy" means the procedures or processes that involve the administration of injectable medications to clients via the intravenous, subcutaneous, epidural, or intrathecal routes. Infusion therapy does not include oral, enteral, or topical medications.

"Instrumental activities of daily living" means meal preparation, housekeeping/light housework, shopping for personal items, laundry, or using the telephone. A client's degree of independence in performing these activities is part of determining the appropriate level of care and services.

"Licensed practical nurse" means a person who holds a current license issued by the Virginia Board of Nursing or a current multistate licensure privilege to practice nursing in Virginia as a licensed practical nurse.

"Licensee" means a licensed home care provider.

"Medical plan of care" means a written plan of services, and items needed to treat a client's medical condition, that is prescribed, signed and periodically reviewed by the client's primary care physician.

September 2009

"Nursing services" means client care services, including, but not limited to, the curative, restorative, or preventive aspects of nursing that are performed or supervised by a registered nurse according to a medical plan of care.

"OLC" means the Office of Licensure and Certification of the Virginia Department of Health.

"Operator" means any individual, partnership, association, trust, corporation, municipality, county, local government agency or any other legal or commercial entity that is responsible for the day-to-day administrative management and operation of the organization.

"Organization" means a home care organization.

"Person" means any individual, partnership, association, trust, corporation, municipality, county, local government agency or any other legal or commercial entity that operates a home care organization.

"Personal care services" means the provision of nonskilled services, including assistance in the activities of daily living, and may include instrumental activities of daily living, related to the needs of the client, who has or is at risk of an illness, injury or disabling condition. A need for assistance exists when the client is unable to complete an activity due to cognitive impairment, functional disability, physical health problems, or safety. The client's functional level is based on the client's need for assistance most or all of the time to perform the tasks of daily living in order to live independently.

"Primary care physician" means a physician licensed in Virginia, according to Chapter 29 (§ 54.1-2900 et seq.) of Title 54.1 of the Code of Virginia, or licensed in an adjacent state and identified by the client as having the primary responsibility in determining the delivery of the client's medical care. The responsibility of physicians contained in this chapter may be implemented by nurse practitioners or physician assistants as assigned by the supervising physician and within the parameters of professional licensing.

"Qualified" means meeting current legal requirements of licensure, registration or certification in Virginia or having appropriate training, including competency testing, and experience commensurate with assigned responsibilities.

"Quality improvement" means ongoing activities designed to objectively and systematically evaluate the quality of client care and services, pursue opportunities to improve client care and services, and resolve identified problems. Quality improvement is an approach to the ongoing study and improvement of the processes of providing health care services to meet the needs of clients and others.

"Registered nurse" means a person who holds a current license issued by the Virginia Board of Nursing or a current multistate licensure privilege to practice nursing in Virginia as a registered nurse.

"Service area" means a clearly delineated geographic area in which the organization arranges for the provision of home care services, personal care services, or pharmaceutical services to be available and readily accessible to persons.

"Skilled services" means ~~the provision of the home health~~ those services listed in 12VAC5-381-300.

September 2009

“Skilled services director” means a physician or registered nurse who is an employee of the organization and responsible for overseeing the overall direction and management of skilled services. The administrator, the skilled services director, or other clinical director may be the same individual if that individual is dually qualified.

"Supervision" means the ongoing process of monitoring the skills, competencies and performance of the individual supervised and providing regular, documented, face-to-face guidance and instruction.

"Surety bond" means a consumer safeguard that directly protects clients from injuries and losses resulting from the negligent or criminal acts of contractors of the home care organization that are not covered under the organization's liability insurance. A fidelity type of surety bond, which covers dishonest acts such as larceny, theft, embezzlement, forgery, misappropriation, wrongful abstraction or willful misapplication, will meet the requirements of surety bond coverage for the purposes of this chapter.

"Sworn disclosure statement" means a document disclosing an applicant's criminal convictions and pending criminal charges occurring in Virginia or any other state.

12VAC5-381-20. License.

A. A license to operate a home care organization is issued to a person. Persons planning to seek federal certification or national accreditation pursuant to § 32.1-162.8 of the Code of Virginia must first obtain a state licensure license.

~~B. The commissioner shall issue or renew a license to establish or operate a home care organization if the commissioner finds that the home care organization is in compliance with the law and this regulation.~~

~~C. A separate license shall be required for home care organizations maintained at separate locations, even though they are owned or are operated under the same management.~~

~~D. C.~~ Every home care organization shall be designated by an appropriate name. The name shall not be ~~changed~~ advertised to the public without first notifying the OLC.

~~E. D.~~ Licenses shall not be transferred or assigned.

~~F. E.~~ Any person establishing, conducting, maintaining, or operating a home care organization without a license shall be guilty of a Class 6 felony according to § 32.1-162.15 of the Code of Virginia.

12VAC5-381-35. Business location of organization.

The business and operational offices of a home care organization shall be located in an office building that is zoned for business or commercial use, including sublet of office space. Offices in residentially zoned areas do not meet the intent of this regulation.

Organizations shall have one year from <effective date> to ensure that current business offices are properly located.

September 2009

12VAC5-381-40. License application; initial and renewal.

~~A. The OLC provides precicensure consultation and technical assistance regarding the licensure process. The purpose of such consultation is to explain the regulation and the survey process. Precicensure consultations are arranged after a completed initial application is on file with the OLC~~ A license to establish or operate a home care organization shall be issued only when the home care organization is in compliance with the law and this chapter and the check for the application fee has cleared the bank.

B. Licensure applications are obtained from the OLC. The OLC shall consider an application complete when all requested information and the appropriate fee, stated in 12VAC5-381-70, ~~is~~ are submitted.

C. Applicants for initial licensure must file the following documentation with the application:

1. A list of the governing body members and organizing documents;
2. Evidence of the administrator's qualifications;
3. Evidence of indemnity coverage;
4. The organization's client rights policies and procedures;
5. The organization's emergency preparedness plan;
6. The job descriptions for the administrator, nursing director, and financial manager;
7. A business plan, signed by the applicant, that details the organization's methods to obtain clients and its plan to recruit and maintain staff;
8. Evidence of contingency funding equal to 3 month's average operating expenses during the first year of operation; and
9. A balance sheet, income and expense statement, and statement of cash flow for the first 2 years of operation that provide evidence of having sufficient assets, credit, and projected revenues to cover liabilities and expenses. The applicant has demonstrated financial ability to operate if the applicant's assets, credit, and projected revenues meet or exceed projected liabilities and expenses. All documents required under this paragraph must be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Using the resources of a Virginia Small Business Center is acceptable for meeting the intent of this regulation.

~~D. If the OLC finds the application is determined incomplete, the applicant will be notified in writing~~ shall have 21 calendar days from the date of written notification to complete the application. Applicants failing to submit complete information must reapply for licensure with a completed application and application fee.

~~C. The activities and services of each applicant and licensee shall be subject to an inspection by the OLC to determine if the organization is in compliance with the provisions of this chapter and state law.~~

~~D E.~~ A completed application for initial licensure must be submitted at least 60 90 days prior to the organization's planned opening date to allow the OLC time to process the application. An incomplete application shall become inactive six months after it is received by the OLC. Applicants must then reapply for licensure with a completed application and application fee. An application for a license may be withdrawn at any

September 2009

time Applicants for initial licensure shall be notified of the time and date of the initial survey.

~~E.~~ Licenses are renewed annually. The OLC shall make Annual renewal applications available shall be submitted at least 60 days prior to the expiration date of the current license. Providers failing to submit an acceptable plan of correction as required in 12VAC5-381-80 shall not be eligible for license renewal and shall surrender their current license as required in 12VAC5-381-140.

~~F.~~ G. It is the home care organization's responsibility to complete and return a renewal application to assure timely processing. Should a current license expire before a new license is issued, the current license shall remain in effect provided a complete and accurate application was filed on time.

I. The activities and services of each applicant and licensee shall be subject to an on-site inspection by the OLC to determine if the organization is in compliance with the provisions of this chapter and state law.

J. An application for licensure may be withdrawn at any time.

12VAC5-381-70. Fees.

A. The OLC shall ~~collect a~~ charge a fee of ~~\$500~~ \$1000 for each ~~initial and renewal license application~~ the filing of an application for licensure and each annual renewal of a home care organization. Fees shall accompany the licensure application ~~and are not refundable~~.

B. The OLC shall charge a fee of \$1,000 for the filing of an application for the transfer of ownership of a home care organization. A fee of \$500 shall be charged for the filing of an application for the relocation of a home care organization.

C. An additional late fee of ~~\$50~~ \$500 shall be collected for an organization's failure to file a renewal application by the date specified.

~~C.~~ D. A processing fee of ~~\$250~~ \$500 shall be collected for each reissuance or replacement of a license and shall accompany the written request for reissuance or replacement.

~~D.~~ E. A one time processing fee of ~~\$75~~ \$150 shall be charged for exemption from licensure and shall accompany the written exemption request.

F. All fees charged shall be nonrefundable.

12VAC5-381-80. On-site inspections.

A. An OLC representative shall make periodic unannounced on-site inspections of each home care organization as necessary but not less often than biennially. The organization shall be responsible for correcting any deficiencies found during any on-site inspection. Compliance with all standards will be determined by the OLC according to applicable law. Applicants for initial licensure shall be notified of the time and date of the initial survey. Failure to be fully prepared shall result in cancellation of the initial survey. Should that occur, the applicant must wait 120 days before reapplying for an initial license.

September 2009

B. The home care organization shall make available to the OLC's representative any necessary records and shall allow access to interview the agents, employees, contractors, and any person under the organization's control, direction or supervision.

C. If OLC's representative arrives on the premises to conduct a survey and the administrator, the nursing director, or a person authorized to give access to client records, are not available on the premises they, or the designated alternate, must be available on the premises within 1 hour of the surveyor's arrival. A list of current clients must be provided to the surveyor within 2 hours of arrival if requested. Failure to be available or to respond will be grounds for sanctions or denial or revocation of the organization's license as allowed in 12VAC5-3812-125.

C.D. After the on-site inspection, the OLC's representative shall discuss the findings of the inspection with the administrator or his designee.

D E. The administrator shall submit, within 15 working days of receipt of the inspection report, an acceptable plan for correcting any deficiencies found. The plan of correction shall contain:

1. A description of the corrective action or actions to be taken and the personnel to implement the corrective action;
2. The expected correction date;
3. A description of the measures implemented to prevent a recurrence of the violation; and
4. The signature of the person responsible for the validity of the report.

E F. The administrator will be notified whenever any item in the plan of correction is determined to be unacceptable. Failure to submit an acceptable plan of correction may result in revocation or non renewal of a license.

F G. The administrator shall be responsible for assuring the plan of correction is implemented and monitored so that compliance is maintained.

G.H. Completion of corrective actions shall not exceed 45 working days from the last day of the inspection.

12VAC5-381-85. Compliance.

A. The department shall determine the level of compliance with each regulation as follows:

1. "Compliance" (C) means the provider is clearly in compliance with a regulation;
2. "Noncompliance" (NC) means the provider is clearly noncompliant with part or all of a regulation;
3. "Not Determined" (ND) means the provider must provide additional information to determine compliance with a regulation;
4. "Not applicable" (NA) means that the provider is not required to demonstrate compliance with the provision of a regulation at the time.

B. The provider, including all employees, contract personnel and volunteers, shall comply with all applicable regulations.

September 2009

12VAC5-381-90. Home visits.

A. As part of any inspection, an OLC representative may conduct home visits.

B. The home care organization shall be responsible for arranging in-home visits with clients, ~~family members, and caregivers~~ or the client's representatives for the OLC representative.

C. The organization shall explain clearly to the client, family or caretaker that the permission for the representative's home visit is voluntary and that consent to the home visit will not affect the client's care or other health benefits.

12VAC5-381-130. ~~Revocation or suspension of a license~~ Violation of regulations or statutes; denial, revocation or suspension of a license.

A. ~~The commissioner is authorized to revoke or suspend any license if the licensee fails to comply with the provisions of Article 7.1 (§ 32.1-162.7 et seq.) of Chapter 5 of Title 32.1 of the Code of Virginia or the regulations of the board. Pursuant to §§ 32.1-27, 32.1-27.1 and 32.1-162.13 of the Code of Virginia, the commissioner may impose such sanctions or take such actions as are appropriate for violating the Code of Virginia or any of the regulations of the board. Reasons for imposing a sanction or revoking a license include, but are not limited to:~~

1. The provider violated any provision of applicable law or this chapter, including but not limited to:

a. Permitting, aiding or abetting the commission of any illegal act by the personnel of the organization;

b. Engaging in conduct or practices that are in violation of statutes and regulations relating to abuse, neglect, or exploitation of persons in care;

c. Deviating significantly from the program or services for which a license was issued without obtaining prior written approval from the OLC or failure to correct such deviation within a specified time;

2. The provider fails to screen all persons hired for compensated employment as required by law or employs persons who are disqualified from employment based on the criminal record check;

3. The provider fails to carry out its responsibilities for the care of clients or fails to provide at least one service directly to clients for a period of six consecutive months;

4. The provider fails to carry out its responsibilities regarding the provision of services by its staff or contractors in such a way that clients are subjected to inadequate or inappropriate care;

5. The provider fails or refuses to submit reports to or to make records available as requested by the OLC;

6. The provider refuses to, or is not available to, admit a representative of the OLC to the premises as stated in 12 VAC5-381-80.C; or

7. The provider fails to submit an adequate corrective action plan as required in 12VAC5-381-80.

September 2009

~~B. If a license is revoked, the commissioner may issue a new license when the conditions upon which revocation was based have been corrected and compliance with all provisions of the law and this chapter has been achieved. The following conditions may be used by the department when recommending to the Commissioner that a sanction be imposed or a license revoked:~~

~~1. The gravity of the violation, including probability that death or serious physical or emotional harm to a client will result or has resulted, and the severity of the actual or potential harm;~~

~~2. Action taken by the organization to correct violations; and~~

~~3. Any previous violations.~~

~~C. When a license is revoked or suspended, the organization shall cease operations. If the organization continues to operate after its license has been revoked or suspended, the commissioner may request the Office of the Attorney General to petition the circuit court of the jurisdiction in which the home care organization is located for an injunction to cause such home care organization to cease operations. A provider will be notified in writing of the intent to impose sanctions or deny, revoke or suspend a license; the reasons for the action; the right to appeal; and the appeal process. The provider has the right to contest the imposition of sanctions or actions taken on the license under the provisions of the Administrative Process Act (§ 2.2-4000 et seq. of the Code of Virginia).~~

~~D. Suspension of a license shall in all cases be for an indefinite time. The suspension may be lifted and rights under the license fully or partially restored at such time as the commissioner determines that the rights of the licensee appear to so require and the interests of the public will not be jeopardized by resumption of operation.~~

12VAC5-381-140. Return of a license Closure of a home care organization.

~~A. Circumstances under which a license must be returned include, but are not limited to (i) transfer of ownership and (ii) discontinuation of services.~~

~~B. The licensee shall notify its clients and the OLC, in writing, 30 days before discontinuing services.~~

~~C. If the organization is no longer operational, or the license has been suspended or revoked, the license shall be returned to the OLC within five working days. The licensee shall notify its clients and the OLC where all home care records will be located.~~

Part II
Administrative Services

12VAC5-381-150. Management and administration.

A. No person shall establish or operate a home care organization, as defined in § 32.1-162.7 of the Code of Virginia, without having obtained a license.

B. The organization must comply with:

1. This chapter (12VAC5-381);

September 2009

2. Other applicable federal, state or local laws and regulations; and
 3. The organization's own policies and procedures.
- C. The organization shall submit or make available reports and information necessary to establish compliance with this chapter and applicable law.
- D. The organization shall permit representatives from the OLC to conduct inspections to:
1. Verify application information;
 2. Determine compliance with this chapter and applicable law;
 3. Review necessary records and documents; and
 4. Investigate complaints.
- E. The organization shall notify the OLC 30 days in advance of changes affecting the organization, including the:
1. Service area;
 2. Mailing address of the organization;
 3. Ownership;
 4. Services provided;
 5. Operator;
 6. Administrator;
 7. Organization name; and
 8. Closure of the organization.
- F. The current license from the department shall be ~~posted for public inspection~~ immediately available upon request.
- G. Service providers or community affiliates under contract with the organization must comply with the organization's policies and this chapter.
- H. The organization shall not use any advertising that contains ~~false, misleading or deceptive statements or claims, or false~~ untrue, deceptive or misleading statements or claims or untrue, deceptive or misleading disclosures of fees and payment for services.
- I. The organization shall have regular posted business hours and be fully operational during such business hours. In addition, the organization shall provide or arrange for services to their clients on an on-call basis 24 hours a day, seven days a week.
- J. The organization shall accept a client only when the organization can adequately meet that client's needs in the client's place of residence.
- K. ~~The organization must have a prepared plan for emergency operations in case of inclement weather or natural disaster to include contacting and providing essential care to clients, coordinating with community agencies to assist as needed, and maintaining a current list of clients who would require specialized assistance.~~
- L. The organization shall encourage and facilitate the availability of flu shots for its staff and clients.

September 2009

12VAC5-381-155. Emergency management plan.

A. Each organization shall prepare and maintain a written comprehensive emergency management plan describing how the organization establishes and maintains effective response to emergencies, including severe inclement weather, and disasters.

B. The organization shall review its emergency plan annually and make any necessary changes.

C. In the event of an emergency, including severe inclement weather, the organization shall implement the plan.

D. All staff designated to be involved in emergency measures must be informed of their duties and be responsible for implementing the emergency management plan.

E. If telephone service is not available during the emergency, the organization shall have a contingency plan to support communications. Such plan may include cell phones, contact with a community based ham radio group, public announcements through radio or television stations, driving directly to the employee's or client's home, and in medical emergency situations, contact with police or emergency rescue services.

F. On admission, the organization shall discuss the emergency provisions with the client and the client's representative.

G. If the client is a resident of an ALF, the organization must contact the ALF administrator or designated ALF emergency management personnel and find out the plan for evacuation in order to document the plan in the organization's record for the client/resident.

Note: If the ALF evacuates its residents to another location within the geographic area of the home care organization, the organization shall continue to provide services to its client/residents.

H. If it is determined that the organization needs to provide continued services, it shall be the responsibility of the organization to provide the same type and quality of care to the client during and after the emergency, whether the client remains in their home, in the ALF, or evacuates to a shelter.

I. Upon eminent threat of an emergency or disaster, the organization must contact those clients needing ongoing services and confirm each client's plan during and immediately after the emergency, whether the client remains in their home, in the ALF, or will evacuate to a shelter.

J. If, as a result of damage caused by the emergency, the organization ceases operation, the organization must inform those clients whose services will be discontinued that services will no longer be provided. The organization shall also notify any ALF where clients are residents and make arrangements for nursing personnel to continue essential services as ordered in the client's care plan. If the organization has clients that were evacuated to shelters, the organization shall call the local emergency operation center as soon as possible and report on the status of the organization's damages and the post-disaster availability to continue services to clients in the shelters.

K. When an organization is unable to continue services to special needs clients, the client's records must contain documentation of the efforts made by the organization to

September 2009

comply with their emergency management plan. Documentation shall include, but is not limited to, contacts made to:

1. The client's family or caretakers;
 2. Local emergency management centers to obtain assistance in reaching clients;
- and
3. Other organizations which may be able to provide temporary services.

L. The organization shall not be required to continue to provide care to clients in emergency situations that are beyond the organization's control and that are make it impossible for the organization to safely provide services, such as when roads are impassable or when clients evacuate to locations outside the organization's normal service area. Organizations shall demonstrate a good faith effort to comply with the requirements of this section by documenting attempts of staff to follow procedures outlined the organization's comprehensive emergency management plan, and by the client's record, that supports a finding that the provision of continuing care has been attempted.

M. During an emergency, the organization is not required to continue to provide services to clients that evacuate outside the organization's designated primary care area.

12VAC5-381-170. Administrator.

~~A. The governing body authority, or owner, shall appoint as administrator an individual who has evidence of at least one year of training and experience in direct health care service delivery with at least one year within the last five years of supervisory or administrative management experience in home health care or a related health program ;~~

1. Is a registered nurse, nurse practitioner, long-term care administrator, or physician licensed in Virginia;
2. Has a master's degree in health, business or public administration or a health related field and at least two years of supervisory or management experience in home care or licensed health care program; or
3. Has a bachelor's degree in health, business or public administration or a health related field and four years of supervisory or management experience in home care or licensed health care program.

B. The administrator shall have operational knowledge of Virginia's home care laws and regulations and the interrelationship between state licensure and other applicable state laws and regulations as well as national certification or accrediting organizations such as the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid and The Joint Commission (formerly the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations).

~~B.~~ C. The administrator shall be responsible for the day-to-day management of the organization, including but not limited to:

September 2009

- ~~1. Organizing and supervising the administrative function of the organization~~
Ensuring the development, implementation, and enforcement of all policies and procedures, including patient rights;
- ~~2. Maintaining~~ Establishing and maintaining an ongoing liaison ~~with the governing body, the professional personnel and staff~~ relationships, communications and integration with staff and services and with clients and client representatives, and the governing body, in accordance with the philosophy and objectives of the organization;
3. Employing qualified personnel and ensuring adequate staff orientation, training, education and evaluation;
4. Oversight and management of the organization's emergency management plan;
5. Participating in the organization's quality assurance program;
- ~~4-6.~~ Ensuring the accuracy of public information materials and activities;
- ~~5-7.~~ Implementing an effective budgeting and accounting system;
- ~~6-8.~~ Maintaining compliance with applicable laws and regulations and implementing corrective action in response to reports of organization committees and regulatory agencies;
- ~~7-9.~~ Arranging and negotiating services provided through contractual agreement; and
- ~~8-10.~~ Implementing the policies and procedures approved by the governing body
Planning for and administering the managerial, operational, fiscal, and reporting components of the organization.

~~C. D.~~ The individual designated to perform the duties of the administrator when the administrator is absent from the organization shall be able to perform the duties of the administrator as identified in subsection B of this section.

~~Organizations shall have one year from January 1, 2006, to ensure that individuals currently designated are qualified.~~

~~D. E.~~ The administrator or his designee shall be available at all times during operating hours and for emergency situations.

12VAC5-381-180. Written policies and procedures.

A. The organization shall implement written policies and procedures approved by the governing body.

B. All policies and procedures shall be reviewed at least annually, with recommended changes submitted to the governing body for approval, as necessary.

C. Administrative and operational policies and procedures shall include, but are not limited to:

1. Administrative records;
2. Admission and discharge or termination from service criteria;
3. Informed consent;

4. Advance directives, including Durable Do Not Resuscitate Orders;
 5. Client rights;
 6. Contract services;
 7. Medication management, if applicable;
 8. Quality improvement;
 9. Mandated reporting of abuse, neglect and exploitation pursuant to § 63.2-1606 of the Code of Virginia;
 10. Communicable and reportable diseases;
 11. Client records, including confidentiality;
 12. Record retention, including termination of services;
 13. Supervision and delivery of services;
 14. Emergency and on-call services;
 15. Infection control;
 16. Handling consumer complaints;
 17. Telemonitoring; and
 18. Approved variances.
- D. Financial policies and procedures shall include, but are not limited to:
1. Admission agreements;
 2. Data collection and verification of services delivered;
 3. Methods of billing for services by the organization and by contractors;
 4. Client notification of changes in fees and charges;
 5. Correction of billing errors and refund policy; and
 6. Collection of delinquent client accounts.
- E. Personnel policies and procedures shall include, but are not limited to a:
1. Written job description that specifies authority, responsibility, and qualifications for each job classification;
 2. Process for maintaining an accurate, complete and current personnel record for each employee;
 3. Process for verifying current professional licensing or certification and training of employees or independent contractors;
 4. Process for enforcing the organization's standards of conduct while an employee is onsite in a client's residence;
 4. 5. Process for annually evaluating employee performance and competency, including obtaining client feedback and input regarding the services provided by the assigned home care attendant or attendants;
 - ~~5.~~ 6. Process for verifying that contractors and their employees meet the personnel qualifications of the organization;
 - ~~6.~~ 7. Process for obtaining a criminal background check; and

September 2009

7. ~~8.~~ Process for reporting licensed and certified medical personnel for violations of their licensing or certification to the appropriate board within the Department of Health Professions.

F. Admission and discharge or termination from service policies and procedures shall include, but are not limited to:

1. Criteria for accepting clients for services offered;
2. The process for obtaining a plan of care or service;
3. Criteria for determining discharge or termination from each service and referral to other agencies or community services; and
4. Process for notifying clients of intent to discharge/terminate or refer, including:
 - a. Oral and written notice and explanation of the reason for discharge/termination or referral;
 - b. The name, address, telephone number and contact name at the referral organization; and
 - c. Documentation in the client record of the referral or notice.

G. Policies shall be made available for review, upon request, to clients and their designated representatives.

H. Policies and procedures shall be readily available for staff use at all times.

12VAC5-381-190. Financial controls.

A. The organization shall document financial resources to operate based on a working budget showing projected revenue and expenses.

B. All financial records shall be kept according to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

C. All financial records shall be ~~audited~~ reviewed at least triennially by an independent certified public accountant (CPA) or ~~audited as otherwise provided by law tax consultant company.~~ Using the resources of the Virginia Small Business Centers is acceptable for meeting the intent of this regulation.

D. The organization shall have documented financial controls to minimize the risk of theft or embezzlement. At a minimum, the person who has authority and responsibility for the fiscal management of the organization shall be bonded or otherwise indemnified.

12VAC5-381-200. Personnel practices.

A. Personnel management and employment practices shall comply with applicable state and federal laws and regulations.

B. The organization shall design and implement a staffing plan that reflects the types of services offered and shall provide qualified staff in sufficient numbers to meet the assessed needs of all clients.

C. Employees and contractors shall be licensed or certified as required by the Department of Health Professions.

September 2009

D. The organization shall design and implement a mechanism to verify professional credentials.

E. Any person who assumes the responsibilities of any staff position or positions shall meet the minimum qualifications for that position or positions.

F. The organization shall obtain the required sworn statement and criminal record check ~~for each compensated employee~~ as specified in § 32.1-162.9:1 of the Code of Virginia. Such criminal record verification shall be in addition to the organization's own hiring and employment practices.

G. Each employee position shall have a written job description that includes:

1. Job title;
2. Duties and responsibilities required of the position;
3. Job title of the immediate supervisor; and
4. Minimum knowledge, skills, and abilities or professional qualifications required for entry level.

H. The organization shall develop and implement a standards of conduct policy to provide guidance for employees and supervisors on, but not limited to:

1. Standards for appropriate conduct;
2. Reporting abuse, neglect and exploitation;
3. Behavior that is unacceptable, such as sleeping on the job, use of a telephone without the client's permission, or eating the clients food without permission; and
4. Corrective action that may be taken to address behavior and employment problems.

I. Employees shall have access to their current position description. There shall be a mechanism for advising employees of changes to their job responsibilities.

~~I.~~ J. New employees and contract individuals shall be oriented commensurate with their function or job-specific responsibilities. Orientation shall include:

1. Objectives and philosophy of the organization;
2. The organization's standards of conduct;
- ~~2.~~ 3. Confidentiality;
- ~~3.~~ 4. Client rights;
- ~~4.~~ 5. Mandated reporting of abuse, neglect, and exploitation;
- ~~5.~~ 6. Applicable personnel policies;
- ~~6.~~ 7. Emergency preparedness procedures;
- ~~7.~~ 8. Infection control practices and measures;
- ~~8.~~ 9. Cultural awareness; and
- ~~9.~~ 10. Applicable laws, regulations, and other policies and procedures that apply to specific positions, specific duties and responsibilities.

~~J.~~ K. The organization shall develop and implement a policy for evaluating employee performance, which shall include feedback and input from clients regarding the services received by the home care attendant.

September 2009

Note: The organization shall clearly inform its clients that such feedback and input is voluntary, and may be anonymous, and that any information provided shall not affect the client's care or other health benefits.

~~K.~~ L. Individual staff development needs and plans shall be a part of the performance evaluation.

~~L.~~ M. The organization shall provide opportunities for and record participation in staff development activities designed to enable staff to perform the responsibilities of their positions.

~~M.~~ N. All individuals who enter a client's home for or on behalf of the organization shall be readily identifiable by employee nametag, uniform or other visible means.

~~N.~~ O. The organization shall maintain an organized system to manage and protect the confidentiality of personnel files and records.

~~O.~~ P. Employee personnel records, whether hard copy or electronic, shall include:

1. Identifying information;
2. Education and training history;
3. Employment history;
4. Results of the verification of applicable professional licenses or certificates;
5. Results of reasonable efforts to secure job-related references and reasonable verification of employment history;
6. Results of performance evaluations;
7. A record of disciplinary actions taken by the organization, if any;
8. A record of adverse action by any licensing bodies and organizations, if any;
9. A record of participation in staff development activities, including orientation; and
10. The criminal record check and sworn affidavit.

~~P.~~ Q. Each employee personnel record shall be retained in its entirety for a minimum of three years after termination of employment.

~~Q.~~ R. Personnel record information shall be safeguarded against loss and unauthorized use.

~~R.~~ S. Employee health-related information, including the result of screenings for tuberculosis, alcohol abuse and drug abuse, shall be maintained separately within the employee's personnel file.

12VAC5-381-220. Contract services.

A. There shall be a written agreement for the provision of services not provided by employees of the organization.

B. The written agreement shall include, but is not limited to:

1. The services to be furnished by each party to the contract;
2. The contractor's responsibility for participating in developing plans of care or service;

September 2009

3. The manner in which services will be controlled, coordinated, and evaluated by the primary home care organization;
 4. The procedures for submitting notes on the care or services provided, scheduling of visits, and periodic client evaluation;
 5. The process for payment for services furnished under the contract; and
 6. Adequate liability insurance and surety bond coverage.
- C. The organization shall have a written plan for provision of care or services when a contractor is unable to deliver services.
- D. The contractor shall conform to applicable organizational policies and procedures as specified in the contract, including the required sworn disclosure statement and criminal record check.

12VAC5-381-230. Client rights; client communications.

A. The organization shall establish and implement written policies and procedures regarding the rights of clients.

~~B. Client rights shall be reviewed with clients or client designees upon admission to the organization. The review shall be documented in the client's record. Copies of client rights shall be given to clients upon admission, to any client representative, and to the public. The organization shall have a plan to review client rights with each client, or with the responsible family member or the responsible agency, and employees at least annually.~~

C. Written procedures to implement the policies shall ensure that each client is:

1. Treated with courtesy, consideration and respect and is assured the right of privacy;
2. Assured confidential treatment of his medical and financial records as provided by law;
3. Free from mental and physical abuse, neglect, and ~~property~~ exploitation;
4. Assured the right to actively participate in the planning of the client's home care, including the right to refuse services;
5. Served by individuals who are properly trained and competent to perform their duties;
6. Assured the right to voice grievances and complaints related to organizational services without fear of reprisal;
7. Advised, before care is initiated, of the extent to which payment for the home care organization services may be expected from federal or state programs, and the extent to which payment may be required from the client;
8. Advised orally and in writing of any changes in fees for services that are the client's responsibility. The home care organization shall advise the client of these changes as soon as possible, but no later than 30 calendar days from the date the home care organization became aware of the change;
9. Provided with advance directive information prior to start of services; and

September 2009

10. Given at least five days written notice when the organization determines to terminate services.

D. Before care is initiated, the home care organization shall inform the client, orally and in writing, of:

1. The nature and frequency of services to be delivered and the purpose of the service;
2. Any anticipated effects of treatment, as applicable;
3. A schedule of fees and charges for services;
4. The method of billing and payment for services, including the:
 - a. Services to be billed to third party payers;
 - b. Extent to which payment may be expected from third party payers known to the home care organization; and
 - c. Charges for services that will not be covered by third party payers;
5. The charges that the individual may have to pay;
6. The requirements of notice for cancellation or reduction in services by the organization and the client; and
7. The refund policies of the organization.

E. Pursuant to Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Subsection F, the organization shall communicate with its clients using a language and method that is effective for the recipient, whether the recipient is the client or the client's representative. If the organization cannot provide such communication, attempts to provide such shall be documented in the client's record.

F. If an appropriate bilingual employee is not available to translate, the organization shall provide a qualified interpreter, at no additional charge to the client, to assist non-English speaking clients seeking care and treatment and not accompanied or represented by an interpreter or a sign language interpreter. Electronic translation services are acceptable for meeting the intent of this regulation.

G. Upon a client's written request for an itemized statement of any services received, the organization shall provide such itemized statement within 30 days.

12VAC5-381-240. Handling complaints received from clients.

A. The organization shall establish and maintain complaint handling procedures that specify the:

1. System for logging receipt, investigation and resolution of complaints; and
2. Format of the written record of the findings of each complaint investigated.

B. The organization shall designate staff responsible for complaint resolution, including:

1. Complaint intake, including acknowledgment of complaints;
2. Investigation of the complaint;
3. Review of the investigation of findings and resolution for the complaint; and

September 2009

4. Notification to the complainant of the proposed resolution within 30 days from the date of receipt of the complaint.
- C. The client or his ~~designee~~ representative shall be given a copy of the complaint procedures at the time of admission to service and annually thereafter. The organization shall provide each client or his designee with the name, mailing address, and telephone number of the:
 1. ~~Organization~~ Organization's complaint contact person;
 2. State Ombudsman; and
 3. Complaint Unit of the OLC, including OLC's toll free Complaint Hot line 1-800-367-1918.
- D. The organization shall maintain documentation of all complaints received and the status of each complaint from date of receipt through its final resolution. Records shall be maintained from the date of last inspection and for no less than three years.

12VAC5-381-250. Quality improvement.

- A. The organization shall implement an ongoing, comprehensive, integrated, self-assessment program of the quality and appropriateness of care or services provided, including services provided under contract or agreement. The findings shall be used to correct identified problems and revise policies and practices, as necessary. Exclusive concentration on administrative or cost-of-care issues does not fulfill this requirement.
- B. The following data shall be evaluated to identify unacceptable or unexpected trends or occurrences:
 1. Staffing patterns and performance to assure adequacy and appropriateness of services delivered;
 2. Supervision appropriate to the level of service;
 3. On-call responses;
 4. Client records for appropriateness of services provided;
 5. Client satisfaction;
 6. Complaint resolution;
 7. Infections;
 8. Staff concerns regarding client care; and
 9. Provision of services appropriate to the clients' needs.
- C. A quality improvement committee responsible for the oversight and supervision of the program, shall consist of:
 1. The director of skilled services or organization's register nurse as appropriate for the type of services provided;
 2. A member of the administrative staff;
 3. Representatives from each of the services provided by the organization, including contracted services; and

September 2009

4. An individual with demonstrated ability to represent the rights and concerns of clients. The individual may be a member of the organization's staff, a client, or a client's ~~family member~~ representative.

In selecting members of this committee, consideration shall be given to a candidate's abilities and sensitivity to issues relating to quality of care and services provided to clients.

D. Measures shall be implemented to resolve important problems or concerns that have been identified. Health care practitioners, as applicable, and administrative staff shall participate in the resolution of the problems or concerns that are identified.

E. Results of the quality improvement program shall be reported annually to the governing body and the administrator and available in the organization. The report shall be acted upon by the governing body and the organization. All corrective actions shall be documented.

12VAC5-381-280. Client record system.

A. The organization shall maintain an organized client record system according to accepted standards of practice. Written policies and procedures shall specify retention, reproduction, access, storage, content, and completion of the record.

B. The client record information shall be safeguarded against loss or unauthorized use.

C. Client records shall be confidential. Only authorized personnel shall have access as specified by state and federal law.

D. Provisions shall be made for the safe storage of the original record and for accurate and legible reproductions of the original.

E. Policies shall specify arrangements for retention and protection of records if the organization discontinues operation and shall provide for notification to the OLC and the client of the location of the records.

F. An accurate and complete client record shall be maintained for each client receiving services and shall include, but shall not be limited to:

1. Client identifying information;
2. A copy of informed consent forms signed by the client, or client's representative;
3. A copy of the consent to release of confidential information signed by the client or client's representative;
- ~~2~~ 4. Identification of the primary care physician;
- ~~3~~ 5. Admitting information, including a client history;
- ~~4~~ 6. Information on the composition of the client's household, including individuals to be instructed in assisting the client;
- ~~5~~ 7. An initial assessment of client needs to develop a plan of care or services;
- ~~6~~ 8. A plan of care or service that includes the type and frequency of each service to be delivered either by organization personnel or contract services;

September 2009

~~7~~ 9. Documentation of client rights review; and

~~8~~ 10. A discharge or termination of service summary.

In addition, client records for skilled and pharmaceutical services shall include:

~~9~~ 11. Documentation and results of all medical tests ordered by the physician or other health care professional and performed by the organization's staff;

~~40~~ 12. A medical plan of care including appropriate assessment and pain management;

~~44~~ 13. Medication sheets that include the name, dosage, frequency of administration, possible side effects, route of administration, date started, and date changed or discontinued for each medication administered; and

~~42~~ 14. Copies of all summary reports sent to the primary care physician.

G. Signed and dated notes on the care or services provided by each individual delivering service shall be written on the day the service is delivered and incorporated in the client record within seven working days.

H. Entries in the client record shall be current, legible, dated and authenticated by the person making the entry. Errors shall be corrected by striking through and initialing.

I. Originals or reproductions of individual client records shall be maintained in their entirety for a minimum of five years following discharge or date of last contact unless otherwise specified by state or federal requirements. Records of minors shall be kept for at least five years after the minor reaches 18 years of age.

12VAC5-381-290. Home attendants.

A. Home attendants shall be able to speak, read and write English and shall meet one of the following qualifications:

1. Have satisfactorily completed a nursing education program preparing for registered nurse licensure or practical nurse licensure;

2. Have satisfactorily completed a nurse aide education program approved by the Virginia Board of Nursing;

3. Have certification as a nurse aide issued by the Virginia Board of Nursing;

4. Be successfully enrolled in a nursing education program preparing for registered nurse or practical nurse licensure and have currently completed at least one nursing course that includes clinical experience involving direct client care;

5. Have satisfactorily passed a competency evaluation program that meets the criteria of 42 CFR 484.36 (b). Home attendants of personal care services need only be evaluated on the tasks in 42 CFR 484.36 (b) as those tasks relate to the personal care services to be provided; or

6. Have satisfactorily completed training using the "Personal Care Aide Training Curriculum," 2003 edition, of the Department of Medical Assistance Services. However, this training is permissible for home attendants of personal care services only.

September 2009

B. The organization shall not allow unlicensed home attendants to assume responsibilities for complex care needs that might otherwise be assumed by family members unless delegated pursuant to 18VAC90-20-429 through 18VAC90-20-460 of the regulations of the Virginia Board of Nursing and with a plan developed and implemented by the organization.

12VAC5-381-295. Discharge planning.

A. There shall be an organized discharge planning process that includes an evaluation of the client's capacity for self-care and the availability of community services to meet the needs of the client.

B. A registered nurse or qualified social worker shall develop or supervise the development of the discharge plan if the client's evaluation indicates a need for a discharge plan.

1. The organization shall arrange for the implementation of the discharge plan.

2. The organization shall transfer or refer clients to appropriate facilities, agencies or services, as needed for follow-up.

C. The organization shall reassess its discharge planning process on an on-going basis. The reassessment shall include a review of discharge plans, as well as a review of patients who were discharged without plans, to ensure that the process is responsive to discharge needs.

Part III
Skilled Services

12VAC5-381-300. Skilled services; nursing services.

A. The organization shall provide a program of home health services that shall include one or more of the following:

1. Nursing services;
2. Physical therapy services;
3. Occupational therapy services;
4. Speech therapy services; or
5. Respiratory therapy services; ~~or~~
6. ~~Medical social services.~~

B. All skilled services delivered shall be prescribed in a medical plan of care that contains at least the following information:

1. Diagnosis and prognosis;
2. Functional limitations;
3. Orders for all skilled services, including: (i) specific procedures, (ii) treatment modalities, and (iii) frequency and duration of the services ordered;
4. Orders for medications, when applicable; and

September 2009

5. Orders for special dietary or nutritional needs, when applicable.

The medical plan of care shall be approved and signed by the client's primary care physician.

C. There shall be a skilled services director, who shall be a licensed physician or a registered nurse, responsible for the overall direction and management of skilled services including the availability of services, the quality of services and appropriate staffing. The individual shall have the appropriate experience for the scope of services provided by the organization.

D. All nursing services shall be directly provided by an appropriately qualified registered nurse or licensed practical nurse, except for those nursing tasks that may be delegated by a registered nurse according to 18VAC90-20-420 through 18VAC90-20-460 of the regulations of the Virginia Board of Nursing and with a plan developed and implemented by the organization.

E. Supervision of services shall be provided as often as necessary as determined by the client's needs, the nursing assessment, and the organization's written policies not to exceed 90 days.

~~G~~ F. Verbal orders shall be documented within 24 consecutive hours in the client's record by the health care professional receiving the order and shall be countersigned by the prescribing person.

~~D~~ G. The primary care physician shall be notified immediately of any changes in the client's condition that indicates a need to alter the medical plan of care.

~~E~~ H. The medical plan of care shall be reviewed, approved, and signed by the primary care physician at least every 60 days.

~~F~~ I. ~~There shall be a director of skilled services, who shall be a physician licensed by the Virginia Board of Medicine or a registered nurse, responsible for the overall direction and management of skilled services including the availability of services, the quality of services and appropriate staffing. The individual shall have the appropriate experience for the scope of services provided by the organization.~~

~~G.~~ The organization shall develop and implement policies and procedures for the handling of drugs and biologicals, including procurement, storage, administration, self-administration, and disposal of drugs and shall allow clients to procure their medications from a pharmacy of their choice.

~~H~~ J. All prescription drugs shall be prescribed and properly dispensed to clients according to the provisions of Chapters 33 (§ 54.1-3300 et seq.) and 34 (§ 54.1-3400 et seq.) of Title 54.1 of the Code of Virginia and the regulations of the Virginia Board of Pharmacy, except for prescription drugs authorized by § 54.1-3408 of the Drug Control Act, such as epinephrine for emergency administration, normal saline and heparin flushes for the maintenance of IV lines, and adult immunizations, which may be given by a nurse pursuant to established protocol.

K. The organization shall have an active program designed to prevent the occurrence of pressure sores or decubitus ulcers by the organization's home care clients.

September 2009

12VAC5-381-310. Nursing services (Repealed.)

~~A. All nursing services shall be directly provided by an appropriately qualified registered nurse or licensed practical nurse, except for those nursing tasks that may be delegated by a registered nurse according to 18VAC90-20-420 through 18VAC90-20-460 of the regulations of the Virginia Board of Nursing and with a plan developed and implemented by the organization.~~

~~B. Supervision of services shall be provided as often as necessary as determined by the client's needs, the assessment by the registered nurse, and the organization's written policies not to exceed 90 days.~~

12VAC5-381-320. Therapy services.

A. Physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, or respiratory therapy services shall be provided according to the medical plan of care by or under the direction of an appropriately qualified therapist currently licensed in Virginia and may include, but are not limited to:

1. Assessing client needs or admission for service as appropriate;
2. Implementing a medical plan of care and revising as necessary;
3. Initiating appropriate preventive, therapeutic, and rehabilitative techniques according to the medical plan of care;
4. Educating the client and ~~family~~ the client's representative regarding treatment modalities and use of equipment and devices;
5. Providing consultation to other health care professionals;
6. Communicating with the physician and other health care professionals regarding changes in the client's needs;
7. Supervising therapy assistants and home attendants as appropriate; and
8. Preparing clinical notes.

B. Therapy assistants may be used to provide therapy services.

1. The occupational therapy assistant shall be currently certified by the National Board for Certification in Occupational Therapy and shall practice under the supervision of a licensed occupational therapist.
2. The physical therapy assistant shall be currently licensed by the Virginia Board of Physical Therapy and shall practice under the supervision of a licensed physical therapist.

C. Duties of therapy assistants shall be within their scope of practice and may include, but are not limited to:

1. Performing services planned, delegated, and supervised by the appropriately licensed therapist; and
2. Preparing clinical notes.

D. Supervision of services shall be provided as often as necessary as determined by the client's needs, the assessment of the licensed therapist, and the organization's written policies not to exceed 90 days.

12VAC5-381-340. Medical social services (Repealed.)

~~A. Medical social services shall be provided according to the medical plan of care by or under the direction of a qualified social worker who holds, at a minimum, a bachelor's degree with major studies in social work, sociology, or psychology from a four-year college or university accredited by the Council on Social Work Education and has at least two years experience in case work or counseling in a health care or social services delivery system.~~

~~The organization shall have one year from January 1, 2006, to ensure the designated individual meets the qualifications of this standard.~~

~~B. The duties of a social worker may include, but are not limited to:~~

- ~~1. Assessing the client's psychological status;~~
- ~~2. Implementing a medical plan of care and revising, as necessary;~~
- ~~3. Providing social work services including (i) short-term individual counseling, (ii) community resource planning, and (iii) crisis intervention;~~
- ~~4. Providing consultation with the primary care physician and other health care professionals regarding changes in the client's needs;~~
- ~~5. Preparing notes on the care or services provided; and~~
- ~~6. Participating in discharge planning.~~

Part IV
Pharmaceutical Services

12VAC5-381-350. Pharmacy services.

A. All prescription drugs shall be prescribed and properly dispensed to the client according to the provisions of the Chapters 33 (§ 54.1-3300 et seq.) and 34 (§ 54.1-3400 et seq.) of Title 54.1 of the Code of Virginia and the regulations of the Virginia Board of Pharmacy, except for prescription drugs authorized by § 54.1-3408 of the Drug Control Act, such as epinephrine for emergency administration, normal saline and heparin flushes for the maintenance of IV lines, and adult immunizations, which may be given by a nurse pursuant to established protocol.

B. Home attendants may assist only with those topical and oral medications that the client would normally self-administer. Any other drug shall be administered only by a licensed nurse or physician assistant.

C. The organization shall develop written policies and procedures for the administration of home infusion therapy medications that include, but are not limited to:

1. Developing a plan of care or service;
2. Initiation of medication administration based on a prescriber's order and monitoring of the client for response to the treatment and any adverse reactions or side effects;
3. Assessment of any factors related to the home environment that may affect the prescriber's decisions for initiating, modifying, or discontinuing medications;

September 2009

4. Communication with the prescriber concerning assessment of the client's response to therapy, any other client specific needs, and any significant change in the client's condition;
5. Communication with the client's provider pharmacy concerning problems or needed changes in a client's medication;
6. Maintaining a complete and accurate record of medications prescribed, medication administration data, client assessments, any laboratory tests ordered to monitor response to drug therapy and results, and communications with the prescriber and pharmacy provider;
7. Educating or instructing the client, ~~family members, or other caregivers~~ and any client representatives involved in the administration of infusion therapy in the proper storage of medication, in the proper handling of supplies and equipment, in any applicable safety precautions, in recognizing potential problems with the client, and actions to take in an emergency; and
8. Initial and retraining of all organization staff providing infusion therapy.

D. The organization shall employ a registered nurse, who has completed training in infusion therapy, and has the knowledge, skills, and competencies to safely administer infusion therapy, to supervise medication administration by staff. This person shall be responsible for ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations, adherence to the policies and procedures related to administration of medications, and conducting periodic assessments of staff competency in performing infusion therapy.

12VAC5-381-355. Medication errors and drug reactions.

A. In the event of a medication error or adverse drug reactions, employees shall promptly notify the client's physician, the medical director, the nurse and the client's family and shall take action as directed. Adverse outcomes of medication errors or drug reactions shall also be reported to the OLC within 48 hours of the event.

B. Actions taken shall be documented in the client's record.

C. The organization shall review all medication errors at least quarterly as part of its quality assurance program.

Part V
Personal Care Services

12VAC5-381-360. Personal care services.

A. An organization may provide personal care services in support of the client's health and safety in his home. The organization shall designate a registered nurse responsible for the ~~supervision~~ coordination of personal care services.

B. The personal care services shall include:

1. Assistance with the activities of daily living. A need for assistance exists when the client is unable to complete an activity due to cognitive impairment, functional disability, physical health problems, or safety. The client's functional level is

September 2009

based on the client's need for assistance most or all of the time to perform the tasks of daily living in order to live independently;

2. Taking and recording vital signs, if specified in the plan of service;
3. Recording and reporting to the supervisor any changes regarding the client's condition, behavior or appearance; and
4. Documenting the services delivered in the client's record.

Personal care services may also include the instrumental activities of daily living related to the needs of the client.

C. Such services shall be delivered based on a written plan of services developed by a registered nurse, ~~in collaboration with the~~ active participation of the client and client's family the client's representative. The plan shall include at least the following:

1. Assessment of the client's needs;
2. Functional limitations of the client;
3. Activities permitted;
4. Special dietary needs;
5. Specific personal care services to be performed; and
6. Frequency of service.

D. The plan shall be retained in the client's record. Copies of the plan shall be provided to the client receiving services and reviewed with the assigned ~~home attendant care staff~~ prior to delivering services.

E. Supervision of ~~services~~ home attendants shall be provided as often as necessary ~~as determined by the client's needs, the assessment of the registered nurse, and according to~~ the organization's written policies not to exceed ~~90~~ 120 days. Such supervision may be provided by a qualified licensed practical nurse.

F. A registered nurse or licensed practical nurse shall be available during all hours that personal care services are being provided.

G. Home attendants providing personal care services shall receive at least 12 hours annually of inservice training and education. Inservice training may be in conjunction with on-site supervision.